ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Whether Air Evac EMS, Inc., is entitled to full payment for air ambulance 
transports provided to members of the West Virginia Public Employees Insurance 
Agency (“PEIA”), when a federal district court and the United States Court of 
Appeals for the Fourth Circuit held that federal law preempts state statutory 
provisions allowing PEIA to limit what Air Evac is paid for such transports.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Air Evac EMS, Inc. (“Air Evac” or “Appellant”) asks this Court to reverse in part a final 

order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, which was issued upon review of a final agency 

action of PEIA, denying Air Evac full payment for air ambulance transports to PEIA members.  

Introduction  

For years, Appellees – the Director of PEIA and members of the PEIA Finance Board 

(collectively, “PEIA”) – have denied Air Evac and other air ambulance providers full payment on 

emergency air medical transportation provided to PEIA beneficiaries.  Through a combination of 

statutory provisions and fee schedules, PEIA limited Air Evac to a fraction of its billed charges on 

each transport while simultaneously forbidding Air Evac from recovering the balance from PEIA’s 

insured.   

In 2016, Air Evac filed a declaratory judgment action in the United States District Court 

for the Southern District of West Virginia, challenging this rate-capping scheme as preempted by 

the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 (“ADA”), which prohibits state regulation of the prices of 

federally registered “air carriers” such as Air Evac.  On October 20, 2017, the district court agreed 

and entered judgment in Air Evac’s favor.  See Air Evac EMS, Inc. v. Cheatham, No. 2:16-cv-

05224, 2017 WL 4765966 (S.D. W. Va. Oct. 20, 2017).  Specifically, the district court ruled that 

the PEIA fee schedules and related statutes are preempted and granted Air Evac’s request for an 

injunction barring their enforcement.  Id.  The district court’s judgment was unanimously affirmed 

by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit.  Air Evac EMS, Inc. v. Cheatham, 

910 F.3d 751 (4th Cir. 2018).  Under the terms of the Cheatham injunction, PEIA is forbidden 

from enforcing the PEIA statutory provisions and fee schedules that limit what Air Evac is paid 

for transporting patients insured by PEIA.  
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PEIA has persistently refused to accept the consequences of the federal injunction.  Both 

during and after the Cheatham litigation, Air Evac continued to provide emergency transports to 

PEIA insureds – as it is required to do under federal and state law.  Over Air Evac’s protests, PEIA 

has drastically undercompensated Air Evac on each of the transports made during this time.  And 

to date, PEIA has paid not a single cent on these outstanding bills beyond the amount called for 

under the preempted fee schedules – the same schedules PEIA is enjoyed from enforcing.  Yet, 

PEIA insists it has no legal obligation to change its ways.  

PEIA appears to have learned nothing from their stinging rebuke at the hands of the federal 

courts.  PEIA lost the Cheatham litigation, in which the federal district court and the Fourth Circuit 

concluded that PEIA’s rate-capping scheme for air ambulance transports was preempted by the 

ADA. This case flows directly from PEIA’s mystifying insistence that it can continue to reimburse 

Air Evac in accordance with the very rate schedules struck down in Cheatham.  Doubling down 

on their efforts to avoid the consequences of that litigation, PEIA is apparently content with 

defying a federal court order, and seek to shirk all responsibility for PEIA’s illegal reimbursement 

scheme by attempting to burden West Virginia citizens with over four million dollars of medical 

debt.  Beyond being patently unlawful, PEIA’s position, if accepted by this Court, would harm the 

very insureds PEIA is tasked with safeguarding. 

Background 

Air Evac is a federally regulated air carrier that provides life-saving emergency 

transportation services to critically ill and injured patients in West Virginia.  For more than a 

decade, PEIA has engaged in concerted efforts to cap payments to Air Evac for transporting state 

employees during a medical emergency, which it is required by state and federal law to do.  See

App. 783.    
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First, beginning in 2011, PEIA abruptly implemented “new laws and regulations aimed at 

air ambulance expenses,” including fee schedules that capped the reimbursement rate for air 

ambulance providers at the federal Medicare Rural Rate.  Cheatham, 910 F.3d at 758.  This rate 

was “substantially below” Air Evac’s billed charges.  App. 783.  Then, the West Virginia 

Legislature enacted a statute in 2016 that further capped what air ambulance providers could 

receive at one of two amounts: (1) the federal Medicare reimbursement rate, or (2) the fee or cost 

of the air ambulance’s subscription service agreement, which was typically around $100.  App. 

783; see W. Va. Code §§ 5-16-8a(a), 5-16-8a(b) (2016); Cheatham, 910 F.3d at 758.1  These 

provisions of the Public Employees Insurance Act (the “Act”)2 and schedules were “backed up” 

by a ban on balance-billing, see W. Va. Code § 16-29D-4, which prohibited Air Evac from 

recovering from PEIA insureds any more than the reimbursement rate cap set by PEIA.  App. 783–

84 (quoting Cheatham, 910 F.3d at 758).  PEIA enforced this rate-capping scheme through threats 

of enforcement actions and criminal and civil penalties.  See W. Va. Code § 5-16-12(a) (2016) 

(civil liability); § 5-16-12(b) (2016) (criminal liability).  As the Fourth Circuit recognized, “West 

1 The full text of these provisions is as follows: 

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this code to the contrary, any air-ambulance 
provider which does not have a contract with the plan, that provides air transportation or 
related emergency or treatment services to an employee or dependent of an employee 
covered by the plan, may not collect from the plan and the covered employee or dependent 
of the employee, a combined amount for those services which exceeds the reimbursement 
amount then in effect for the federal Medicare program, including any applicable 
Geographic Practice Cost Index. 

(b) If an air-ambulance provider has entered into a subscription service agreement 
with an employee or dependent of an employee covered by the plan, and the employee or 
dependent is in good standing with the agreement, the air-ambulance provider shall accept 
the fee or cost of the subscription service agreement as payment in full for any air-
ambulance transport and related emergency treatment or services which the air-ambulance 
provider may provide to that employee or dependent of an employee. 

W. Va. Code Ann. § 5-16-8a(a), (b) (2016). 

2 The Act is found in Article 16, Chapter 5 of the West Virginia Code.
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Virginia has simply dictated a relatively low reimbursement rate and prohibited any additional 

recovery,” and as a result, “the state faces no pressure to bargain up front, and no threat of patients 

being directly billed on the back end, thereby lowering total reimbursement costs.”  Cheatham, 

910 F.3d at 758. 

Procedural History  

On June 9, 2016, Air Evac filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief in the 

United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia.  See Air Evac EMS, Inc. v. 

Cheatham, No. 2:16-cv-05224 (S.D.W. Va. June 6, 2019) at ECF No. 1.  Air Evac contended that 

PEIA’s rate-capping scheme was preempted by the ADA, which invalidates any state law, rule, or 

fee schedule that “relate[s] to” the “price[s]” or “service[s]” of federally-regulated “air carrier[s].”  

49 U.S.C. § 41713(b)(1).  App. 784.  Air Evac challenged the balance-billing ban in the alternative.  

App. 784. 

On October 20, 2017, the federal district court concluded that the ADA preempted the 

reimbursement cap set forth in W. Va. Code § 5-16-8a(a) (2016), and the regulation of Air Evac’s 

subscription agreements set forth in W. Va. Code § 5-16-8a(b) (2016).  Cheatham, 2017 WL 

4765966, at *10.  It likewise concluded that the ADA preempted W. Va. Code § 5-16-5(c)(1),3 the 

accompanying fee schedules, and all accompanying regulations “with respect to air ambulance 

providers.”  Id.  The court held that PEIA was enjoined from enforcing all of those provisions and 

schemes.  See id.  But the district court left intact the ban on balance-billing PEIA insureds for air 

ambulance services, which was challenged in the alternative.   

3 The version of § 5-16-5(c)(1) in effect at the time provided, “All [annual and long-range] financial 
plans required by this section shall establish . . . [m]aximum levels of reimbursement which the [PEIA] 
makes to categories of health care providers.”  W. Va. Code § 5-16-5(c)(1) (2007). 
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PEIA appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit and filed a 

motion to stay the injunction pending appeal, which was denied.  Thus, “the District Court’s order 

has remained in effect from the date it was entered [October 20, 2017] through the present day.”  

App. 785.  The Fourth Circuit ultimately affirmed the district court’s decision on December 7, 

2018.  See Cheatham, 910 F.3d at 758. 

Following the district court’s decision, and during the pendency of the Fourth Circuit 

appeal, Air Evac demanded that PEIA pay the full cost of each air ambulance transport beginning 

on June 9, 2016, the date it filed its Complaint in federal court.  App. 089, 096, 785.  PEIA outright 

rejected Air Evac’s demands, explaining that it retained the authority to pay Air Evac in the same 

manner as other private insurers.4  App. 163–64.  PEIA also contended that other provisions of 

West Virginia law were unaffected by the injunction, and PEIA retained discretion to choose which 

of Air Evac’s services it would cover.  App. 163.  Remarkably, perpetuating its bald-faced efforts 

to underpay crucial air ambulance servicers, PEIA then notified Air Evac that it only intended to 

pay for each legitimate transport at the Medicare Rural Rate, which was precisely the rate PEIA 

set by its preempted fee schedules. App. 163–64.  Indeed, the Circuit Court found that up to this 

point, PEIA still “ha[d] only paid Air Evac’s outstanding bills at the amount established by the 

preempted fee schedules – the Medicare Rural Rate.”  App. 787.   

In the wake of the Cheatham litigation, the West Virginia Legislature passed a new law 

providing that, going forward, air ambulance providers were no longer subject to penalties for 

seeking payment of the balance of their bills from insureds, if PEIA did not pay providers in full.  

See S.B. 587, W. Va. Legis. Reg. Sess. (2019), codified at W. Va. Code § 5-16-8a(d).  The new 

law took effect on June 4, 2019.   

4 Notably, the district court noted that PEIA “fail[ed] to recognize that Air Evac recovers full 
billed charges from some private healthcare insurers.”  Cheatham, 2017 WL 4765966, at *7 n.1.
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During and after the Cheatham litigation, Air Evac continued to provide emergency air 

ambulance transportation to PEIA insureds, as required under state and federal law.  App. 787.  

During the time frame at issue in this appeal, Air Evac conducted 115 air ambulance transports to 

PEIA members, at a total cost of four million, seven-hundred seventy-three thousand, thirty-four 

dollars ($4,773,034).  App. 84.  After PEIA’s payments at the Medicare Rural Rate for each, Air 

Evac was left with four million, eighteen thousand, forty-six dollars ($4,018,046) in unpaid 

transports, and no way to recoup those costs.  [Id.]  After multiple requests for PEIA to reimburse 

Air Evac in accordance with the Cheatham injunction, and PEIA’s consistent refusal to do so, Air 

Evac demanded a Contested Case Hearing (the “Demand”) pursuant to PEIA’s Contested Case 

Rules (the “Rules”) on October 24, 2019.  App. 53. 

In the Demand, Air Evac requested that the agency determine its legal rights, and the legal 

duties of the parties “with regard to payments on certain air ambulance transports provided by Air 

Evac to West Virginians insured” by PEIA.  App. 53.  It also demanded that PEIA pay full charges 

for air ambulance transports that occurred between June 9, 2016 (the initiation of the Cheatham

litigation) and June 4, 2019 (the effective date of the statute allowing balance billing, W. Va. Code 

§ 5-16-8a).5  App. 57–58.  PEIA summarily denied Air Evac’s request twenty days later, claiming 

that it had been exempted from certain Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) oversight and was 

5 Throughout this brief, Air Evac will refer to air ambulance transports made from June 9, 2016, to 
June 5, 2019, as “past transports” for ease of reference.  

October 20, 2017    June 4, 2019 

Cheatham Court   S.B. 587 becomes effective,  
rules in Air Evac’s favor,  lifting the balance-billing 
granting injunction and invalidating  prohibition 
PEIA’s illegal reimbursement caps 

Limited Reimbursement Period 

   June 9, 2016     December 7, 2018 To Present Day 

Air Evac files Cheatham  The U.S. Court of Appeals  PEIA refuses to remit 
action in U.S. District Court for the Fourth Circuit affirms to Air Evac its billed- 
for the Southern District of  the Cheatham decision/injunction  charges 
West Virginia  
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not required to follow its Rules providing for contested case hearings using APA procedures. App. 

163–64. 

Air Evac filed a timely Petition for Appeal (the “Petition”) with the Circuit Court of 

Kanawha County, Hon. Carrie L. Webster.  App. 4–27 (petition); 490–515 (brief in support).  In 

PEIA’s Response, it argued there was no APA jurisdiction for the Petition; the Petition was barred 

by sovereign immunity; and in any event, Air Evac was not entitled to full payment for Air Evac’s 

past charges and transports.  App. 526–41.  As to this latter point, PEIA contended that the federal 

injunction “left PEIA’s Director the discretion to ‘manage . . . provider negotiations, provider 

contracting and payment,’ without reliance on any fee schedule or the portions of the West Virginia 

law Air Evac successfully challenged.”  App. 535 (quoting W. Va. Code § 5-16-3(c)).  PEIA also 

argued that Air Evac is “free to bill PEIA members directly for the balance of any bill PEIA does 

not cover,” App. 541, despite the fact that Air Evac was not and is not seeking recoupment on 

transports occurring after the enactment of S.B. 587 on June 4, 2019.  

The Circuit Court held oral argument on April 26, 2022, and issued a final order (the 

“Order”) on December 16, 2022.  In the Order, the Circuit Court rejected most of PEIA’s 

arguments, holding that Air Evac’s request was not barred by sovereign immunity, and the issues 

raised in the Demand were to be resolved under the APA and PEIA’s Rules.  App. 782–810. 

The Circuit Court also rejected PEIA’s argument that it retains the discretion to determine 

the amount that must be reimbursed for past transports of PEIA members, or that it could legally 

continue to offer reimbursement for past transports at the Medicare Rural Rate and force Air Evac 

to balance-bill PEIA members for those transports.  The court found PEIA’s arguments regarding 

retroactive balance-billing “deeply troubling” because PEIA “ha[s] no statutory authority to 

override [the balance-billing provision], to delete it from the statute books, or to treat it as if it did 
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not exist during the period when these transports took place.”  App. 806–07.  The court went so 

far as to “question[] whether the actions taken by the Director exceed his authority . . . and whether 

such actions are contrary to public policy.”  App. 806–07; see also App. 807 & n.4 (noting that 

PEIA “has a duty to its insureds and the actions by the Director are in stark contrast to the duties 

and purpose of PEIA”).  The court also took issue with PEIA’s view that it need only pay the 

Medicare Rural Rate, reasoning that this action “establishes a maximum amount that Air Evac will 

be paid,” thereby “violat[ing] . . . the Cheatham injunctions.” App. 808.   

And yet on the issue of payment for past transports, the Circuit Court erroneously refused 

to engage in a severability analysis, reasoning that such an analysis “is not required to reach a 

decision in this matter” because Air Evac is “not entitled to full payment of its past charges under 

either Cheatham or West Virginia law.”  App. 801–02.   This is backwards.  When part of a statute 

is invalidated, the court must perform a severability analysis to determine whether the remaining 

parts of the statutory scheme can continue operating without the invalid provisions.  State v. 

Heston, 137 W. Va. 375, 403, 71 S.E.2d 481, 496 (1952).   Thus, the court had to engage in 

severability to determine whether Air Evac is entitled to full payment of its past charges.  

Severability is the crux of this matter and the court’s refusal to follow West Virginia law and sever 

the enjoined provisions is reversible error.  

In other words, the Circuit Court accurately resolved every legal question along the way 

up to the ultimate question: the required severability analysis.  At that point, the court simply 

refused to complete the inquiry, instead deciding to remand the mater to PEIA and requiring the 

parties to engage in “good faith negotiations.”  App. 809.  

Air Evac and PEIA separately filed notices of appeal with the West Virginia Supreme 

Court of Appeals on January 13, 2023.  The Supreme Court dismissed the appeals and directed the 
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parties to file renewed Notices of Appeal in this Court.  On March 31, 2023, PEIA filed a Notice 

of Appeal seeking to challenge the Circuit Court’s conclusions on the legal issues it decided.  

Appeal No. 23-ICA-127.  App. 851–93. 

Air Evac’s appeal is different – it challenges the Circuit Court’s erroneous refusal to finish 

the job of deciding the severability question.  Also on March 31, 2023, Air Evac filed a Notice of 

Appeal regarding the Circuit Court’s decision not to engage in a severability analysis and its denial 

of full payment of past transports.  Appeal No. 23-ICA-135; App. 811–50.  On May 22, 2023, this 

Court consolidated the appeals for purposes of decision and, if warranted, oral argument.  
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Air Evac has provided critical life-saving air ambulance services to the people of West 

Virginia for decades.  But over the last 12 years, PEIA has engaged in concerted efforts to limit 

reimbursement payments to Air Evac and other air ambulance carriers to an amount substantially 

below Air Evac’s actual costs.  In 2017, a federal district court held that PEIA is enjoined from 

capping or otherwise limiting air ambulance costs because the federal Airline Deregulation Act 

preempts such actions, and it invalidated three different parts of the Public Employees Insurance 

Act allowing it to do so.   

Despite this injunction, which was affirmed by the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourth Circuit, and which is still in place to this day, PEIA has nonetheless refused to reimburse 

Air Evac for 115 air transports to PEIA members occurring over a three-year period, resulting in 

losses to Air Evac of over $4 million.  Air Evac demanded a contested case hearing from PEIA to 

determine its right to payment under the injunction and seek full payment of its costs.  PEIA 

summarily denied this request. 

On appeal, the Circuit Court agreed that PEIA had acted improperly, but then refused to 

recognize that when part of a state statute is invalidated (as it was here in the case of preemption), 

courts must sever the invalidated portion and assess the meaning and effect of the remaining 

language.  Had the court done so, it would have been compelled to conclude that Air Evac is 

entitled to full reimbursement for the past air ambulance transports.  Instead, the Circuit Court 

remanded this matter and directed Air Evac to initiate administrative proceedings with PEIA and 

engage in negotiations regarding the disputed payments.  Respectfully, this path has already proved 

to be futile, as PEIA has made clear that it believes it retains discretion to cap Air Evac’s 

reimbursement, in direct contravention of the federal injunction.  This Court should reverse the 
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Circuit Court’s decision and remand with instructions that PEIA provide full reimbursement of 

Air Evac’s outstanding costs.       

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT  

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument 

is necessary.  Air Evac has not waived oral argument, the appeal is not frivolous, the dispositive 

issues have not been authoritatively decided, and the decisional process will be significantly aided 

by oral argument.  W. Va. R. App. Proc. 18(a).  This matter is appropriate for oral argument 

because it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law, W. Va. R. App. Proc. 

19(a)(1), and it involves issues of public importance and constitutional questions – specifically, 

the effect of federal preemption – regarding the validity of a statute, W. Va. R. App. Proc. 20(a)(2), 

(a)(3).    

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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