# IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jul 31 2023 03:45PM EDT Transaction ID 70525060

#### NO. 23-ICA-135

#### AIR EVAC EMS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

BRIAN CUNNINGHAM, IN HIS CAPACITY AS DIRECTOR OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY, AND MARK D. SCOTT, GEOFF S. CHRISTIAN, AMANDA D. MEADOWS, JARED ROBERTSON, DAMITA JOHNSON, JASON MYERS, MICHAEL COOK, WILLIAM MILAM, AND MICHAEL T. SMITH, IN THEIR CAPACITIES AS MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INSURANCE AGENCY FINANCE BOARD,

Respondents,

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Civil Action No. 19-AA-169

# **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

# PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

Plus, an exception for paying-programs opens an extraordinarily wide door into the State Treasury. It could subject any number of the legislative programs that use State funds for educational, *e.g.*, W. VA. CODE §§ 18-31-1 et seq. (2021) (creating Hope Scholarship), or economic purposes, *e.g.*, *id.* § 31-15-8a (2021) (creating broadband loan insurance program); *id.* § 12-6-9e (2003) (authorizing loans for industrial development), to lawsuits.

And setting money aside for certain purposes and directing an agency to use that money hasn't worked as an exception to immunity before. Rather, a sign-language interpreter's claim for payment under a contract with DHHR was barred by sovereign immunity, *Phillips v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res.*, No. 19-0610, 2020 WL 3408421, at \*1, 3-4 (W. Va. 2020) (mem. decision), even though DHHR is empowered by state law to engage such services for state-run psychiatric hospitals, W. VA. CODE § 27-1A-4(d), and pays for them through legislative appropriations, *id.* § 27-1A-8. Sovereign immunity also barred retroactive recovery of overtime and holiday compensation for certain National Guard firefighters. *Skaff*, 200 W. Va. at 703, 490 S.E.2d at 790. These employees were entitled to an award for leave going forward—*i.e.*, prospectively, *id.*, and the funds for their salaries came "from the federal government" and were set apart from "general revenues" in a special revenue account. *Id.* at 706, 490 S.E.2d at 793. But that didn't matter for sovereign immunity purposes. The Constitution still protected the State Treasury from a damages award drawn from that appropriation. *Id.* Sovereign immunity should work the same way here, too.

True, the circuit court did not directly order PEIA to pay Air Evac more money. Instead, it ordered the parties to "meaningfully conduct a mediation" and engage in "good faith negotiations regarding Air Evac's past due charges and disputed payments." App. 809.<sup>2</sup> But directing PEIA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Air Evac also objects to this relief but for the wrong reasons. Petr's Br. 21 (saying the "APA does not provide negotiation as a viable remedy"). The APA never defines private rights or an agency's substantive obligations. *State ex rel. W. Va. Bd. of Ed. v. Perry*, 434 W. Va. 662, 665, 434 S.E.2d 22, 25 (1993). For that, courts must look to external sources such as "statutory language creating an agency" or "the agency's rules." *Id.* Some of these external sources do provide for agency level mediation. *E.g.*, W. VA. CODE R. § 77-2-4.15 (mediation before Human Rights Commission); W. VA. CODE § 6C-2-3 (mediation before

to negotiate with Air Evac for a higher rate is just an indirect invasion of the State Treasury: it still leaves the state coffers open to Air Evac's claims for past damages. After all, the circuit court's order does not contemplate refusing to pay anything at the end of the negotiation. And it is all the more a violation of Section 35 since this immunity is not only a "defense to liability" but also relieves the State of the burdens of participating in the litigation. *A-1 Amusement*, 240 W. Va. at 94, 807 S.E.2d at 765; *cf. Seminole Tribe of Fl. v. Florida*, 517 U.S. 44, 72 (1996) (finding suit to force state to comply with mediation under Indian Gaming Regulatory Act barred by similar 11th Amendment immunity). Part of the benefit of Section 35 immunity would be lost if PEIA were forced by court order to negotiate a higher payment for Air Evac's past bills.

At a basic level, this "paying-program" theory defies the internal logic of the exceptions *Graf* and other cases identify. The predominant feature of each is that they are *forward-looking* relief. From writs of mandamus to injunctions to employee back pay, the Court crafts exceptions based on their prospective nature. Exceptions to Section 35 can sometimes be found when "the relief sought involves a prospective declaration of the parties' rights," but not where the suit "involves an attempt to obtain a retroactive monetary recovery . . . payable from State funds." *Gribben*, 195 W. Va. at 497, 466 S.E.2d at 156. Even when one of these exceptions applies, the courts "enter[] such territory with great care, fully respectful of the fact that our Constitution places on the Legislature the primary responsibility for raising and allocating State funds." *Id.* at 494, 466 S.E.2d at 153. The circuit court's "paying-program" exception pays little heed to that rule: it allows for "monetary relief against the State" to pay past debts. *Skaff*, 200 W. Va. at 706, 490 S.E.2d at 793. That is precisely the type of relief sovereign immunity is designed to stop.

Public Employee Grievance Board). In theory, a court under appellate APA review could remand with instructions to conduct mediation in certain cases. It wasn't right here because of sovereign immunity.

PEIA is entitled to sovereign immunity; and the circuit court's reasons for rejecting that immunity violate case law and basic Section 35 immunity principles. Because sovereign immunity bars this type of case, this Court should reverse and order the circuit court to dismiss.

# II. Neither The APA Nor The CCR Provided The Lower Court Jurisdiction.

If sovereign immunity isn't enough, this Court should also dismiss because the circuit court lacked appellate APA jurisdiction. The lower court thought that the case should be "resolved under the APA and PEIA's Contested Case Rules." App. 798 (Order ¶ 79). But an APA appeal is only available when a claim arises out of a "contested case"—that is, a proceeding in which the law requires the State to give the party a hearing. PEIA's CCR are limited in the same way. Yet, Air Evac points to nothing giving it such a right. What's more, the Plan's review process expressly applies to situations like this, where a medical provider is disputing how much PEIA paid them. The Plan is a legislative-exempt rule, and it gets the same weight as statutes—*i.e.*, "controlling" preference. So even if the CCR applied, the Plan would supersede it. The circuit court was wrong not to dismiss for lack of APA jurisdiction, too. This Court should correct that error on appeal.

### A. This payment dispute does not present a "contested case."

The APA and PEIA's CCR aren't the right fit because PEIA's decision to pay the Medicare rate didn't come out of a "contested case." Agency decisions aren't automatically reviewable under the APA. *Perry*, 189 W. Va. at 665, 434 S.E.2d at 25. Rather, a party "is entitled to judicial review" of an agency decision under the APA only when they are "adversely affected by a final order or decision *in a contested case*." W. VA. CODE § 29A-5-4(a) (emphasis added). The APA defines a "contested case" as any "proceeding before an agency in which the legal rights, duties, interests or privileges of specific parties are required by law or constitutional right to be determined after an agency hearing." *Id.* § 29A-1-2(b).

The CCR are largely limited to the same "contested cases" category. *See* W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-1 (noting that the "Scope" of the CCR extends to "general procedures for conducting *contested case hearings*," except for proceedings for declaratory judgments, which Air Evac does not request (emphasis added)). The CCR describes "contested case" proceedings by copying verbatim the APA's hearing and "required by law" language. *Id.* § 151-3-4.

So to invoke appellate APA jurisdiction *or* the CCR, "an agency must either be required by some statutory provision or administrative rule to have hearings or the specific right affected by the agency must be constitutionally protected such that a hearing is required." Syl. pt. 1, *Perry*, 189 W. Va. at 663, 434 S.E.2d at 23. "[W]here there is no right to an administrative hearing, there is no 'contested case' from which to file an appeal." *Williams v. W. Va. Div. of Motor Vehicles*, 226 W. Va. 562, 567, 703 S.E.2d 533, 538 (2010).

Air Evac's petition is not a "contested case" under *Perry*'s test because no constitutional right, statute, or agency rule requires PEIA to determine the amount it owes Air Evac after a hearing. Constitutional rights do not ground Air Evac's petition: it has never claimed that either the state or federal constitutions entitle it to more money. The search for a statutory right to a hearing is equally fruitless. The PEI Act lets the agency use "utilization review" procedures and "third-party administrators", *id.* § 5-16-7(a)(6)(C), to manage provider payments and disputes. It never says providers have to be given a hearing before they are paid anything less than they demand. Rather, the statute allows for contested case hearings in only one scenario: insurance fraud. W. VA. CODE § 5-16-12a(c) (authorizing PEIA to recover fraudulent overpayments "after notice and an administrative proceeding"); *see also id.* § 5-16-12(b) (authorizing recovery of overpayments from certain fraudulent activities like "[w]illfully misrepresent[ing] a diagnosis or the nature of service provided"). Healthcare provider claims of underpayment don't fit that bill.

And this singular statutory basis for a hearing should not be judicially expanded to cover other types of disputes. *See* syl. pt. 3, *Manchin v. Dunfee*, 174 W. Va. 532, 327 S.E.2d 710 (1984) ("[T]he express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another.").

Looking to PEIA's rules doesn't help Air Evac, either. PEIA's legislative-exempt Plan expressly governs provider payment disputes and doesn't give providers a hearing. App. 594 (Plan § V.9). Still, Air Evac thinks the CCR themselves includes such a right. *See* App. 4, 7-8, 12-15, 20. That's a mistake. The CCR are "procedural rules," W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-1.1, which, by definition, can never "grant[] or den[y] a specific benefit"—like a right to a hearing—or be "determinative on any issue affecting . . . statutory . . . rights, privileges or interests," W. VA. CODE § 29A-1-2(e). The CCR details the procedures for "contested cases," a term imported straight from the APA. *See* W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-1.1 (explicitly invoking and incorporating the APA).

And by itself, the APA never creates a "contested case" or a right to a hearing, syl. pt. 2, *Perry*, 189 W. Va. at 663, 434 S.E.2d at 23; the APA merely defines what a contested case is and explains how an agency should treat it. Created to mirror the APA, the CCR by themselves don't make any dispute a "contested case" either. They simply explain how a case involving a "hearing . . . required by law" proceeds through PEIA's administrative system. To show that a dispute is a "contested case," a petitioner must always point to some external, non-APA *and* non-CCR legal source that then works in tandem with the APA's definitions and structure. For example, *Currey v. State of W. Va. Human Rights Comm'n*, fell "squarely within the statutory definition of contested cases," 166 W. Va. 163, 169, 273 S.E.2d 77, 80–81 (1980), because a non-APA statute, W. VA. CODE § 5-11-10, explicitly required the defendant commission "to hold a hearing on [the plaintiff's] sex discrimination charge." *Id.* Air Evac found nothing similar to point to in this case.

#### B. The Plan's provider-dispute procedures govern Air Evac's claims.

PEIA has never disputed that the CCR are valid and binding rules. PEIA does contend that CCR are not the appropriate dispute-resolution mechanism *for this case*. Instead, provider disputes like this one are governed by the Plan's process. The circuit court shouldn't have tossed that established process out in favor of the CCR.

Under the Plan, if a provider believes PEIA has made a mistake in processing a "claim or reviewing a service," it may raise the issue with a "Third-Party Administrator." App. 594-95 (Plan § V.9). If this doesn't fix the provider's concerns, it may then appeal in writing to the Third-Party Administrator. *Id.* If the provider dislikes the decision on appeal, it may appeal that decision "in writing to the director of the PEIA" who is then charged with "reconsider[ing] the entire case," considering all relevant materials, and issuing a "decision, in writing." *Id.* Air Evac raises a classic provider payment dispute: PEIA paid it a given sum (the Medicare rate) for its air transport services, but Air Evac thought PEIA should have paid more. The Plan is meant to handle that type of dispute.

Of course, Air Evac's legal arguments wouldn't be a run-of-the-mill "mistake" that thirdparty administrators are used to handling. App. 796-97 (Order ¶¶ 69-72). But an out-of-theordinary dispute doesn't give the circuit court the right to substitute the CCR for the Plan's appeals process. It just means Air Evac's claim would have moved quickly to the third and final step: review by the Director, who would have then decided the legal questions—exactly the sort of statutory interpretation problems he and PEIA confront daily. After that, Air Evac could have pursued any remaining claim or arguments before the Legislative Claims Commission. Or, it could have pursued non-damages remedies, like a writ of mandamus, W. VA. CODE §§ 53-1-1 *et seq.*, or an original action for declaratory judgment, *id.* §§ 55-13-1 *et seq.*, assuming it could satisfy the jurisdictional and other requirements that apply to those actions. And the CCR does not provide conflicting directives for handling provider claims. It refers to providers zero times. Instead, it lists employees, employers, and "any other party" as potential parties. W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-4.3, 4.4. It also makes no mention of payment issues. Instead, its scope could hardly be more general: its procedures are for any "hearing" to "determine[] any constitutional rights, legal rights, duties[,] interests or privileges" of "any party." W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-4.1. So, the CCR and Plan can easily be "reconciled" "and applied together" as long as the Plan is allowed to operate in its specific lane—*i.e.*, governing provider payment disputes—and the CCR acts as the catchall. *Young v. State*, 241 W. Va. 489, 492, 826 S.E.2d 346, 349 (2019).

But even if the CCR and Plan did conflict, the Plan would still control.

*First*, the Plan is a uniquely powerful sort of regulatory authority. It is a "legislative exempt" rule and thus "entitled to controlling weight" in any legal analysis. Syl. pt. 9, *Charleston Gazette v. Smithers*, 232 W. Va. 449, 752 S.E.2d 603 (2013) (cleaned up). Legislative exempt rules are those "the Legislature expressly exempts . . . from such legislative rule-making review and approval." Syl. pt. 13, *Simpson v. W. Va. Off. of Ins. Comm'r*, 223 W. Va. 495, 678 S.E.2d 1 (2009). Under West Virginia Code Section 5-16-8(1), PEIA "insurance plans" are explicitly "not subject to chapter § 29A-1-1 *et seq.* of this code," making the Plan a "legislative (exempt) rule[]," *see* W. VA. CODE R. § 151-1-1.1 (2019). Because legislative exempt rules like the Plan are "authorized by legislation," *Griffith v. Frontier W. Va., Inc.*, 228 W. Va. 277, 290, 719 S.E.2d 747, 760 (2011) (cleaned up), they "can be ignored only if the agency has exceeded its constitutional or statutory authority or is arbitrary or capricious." *Simpson*, 223 W. Va. at 510, 498, 678 S.E.2d at 16. Otherwise, they are "given controlling weight." *Murray Energy Corp. v. Steager*, 241 W. Va. 629, 640, 827 S.E.2d 417, 428 (2019) (cleaned up).

On the other hand, the CCR are procedural. W. VA. CODE R. § 151-3-1.1. This type of rule can define the way "proceedings before an agency" are held but lacks the "force of law" assigned to the Plan, W. VA. CODE § 29A-1-2(e), (h), and do not come with controlling weight.

*Second*, the Plan is more specific than the CCR—unlike the CCR, it expressly addresses provider payment disputes like this one. App. 594-95 (Plan § V.9). And it details how those disputes get resolved. *Id.* So, the Plan would "be given precedence over a general" rule like the CCR if "the two cannot be reconciled." Syl. pt. 3, *Newark Ins. Co. v. Brown*, 218 W. Va. 346, 348, 624 S.E.2d 783, 785 (2005).

*Third*, if they can't be read together, the annually-promulgated Plan would win out over the 1987 CCR as "the most recent expression of" regulatory authority. *W. Va. Health Care Cost Rev. Auth. v. Boone Mem. Hosp.*, 196 W. Va. 326, 336, 472 S.E.2d 411, 421 (1996).

This all means that the circuit court mistakenly took jurisdiction under the APA. The Plan process is designed to handle provider disputes and does not include a right to a hearing. Without a hearing, the circuit court had no power to exercise appellate APA jurisdiction. It also should not have brushed aside the Plan process in favor of the less authoritative, less specific, and older CCR. This Court should correct that error and order the circuit court to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.

#### **III.** Air Evac Is Not Entitled To Full Payment.

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